73398-2 73398-2

FILED
December 31, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 73398-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER ROBERT MORTENSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Christopher Mortenson was convicted of felony driving under the influence (DUI) based on a finding he had four prior DUI convictions. Mr. Mortenson appealed and this Court reversed, holding the judge's inadvertent disclosure of Mr. Mortenson's prior conviction history to the jury panel during jury selection was unfairly prejudicial.

On remand, Mr. Mortenson renewed two motions he had made in his earlier trial. First, he moved to present the evidence of his prior DUI convictions to the jury in a separate proceeding from the evidence on the underlying offense. In the alternative, requested a separate jury instruction and verdict form regarding the prior convictions. The judge denied both motions, believing it had no discretion to reconsider the earlier judge's rulings, or provide different jury instructions, because those issues were not raised by Mr. Mortenson in his appeal.

The judge misapplied the "law of the case" doctrine. The judge had discretion to revisit issues that were not raised nor addressed by the Court of Appeals. Because either procedure proposed by Mr.

Mortenson would have helped to ensure he received a fair trial by lessening the substantial risk that the jury would use the prior conviction evidence as propensity evidence, Mr. Mortenson was

entitled to have the judge give these motions meaningful consideration.

The judge's failure to exercise its discretion was an abuse of discretion and the conviction must be reversed.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court misapplied the "law of the case" doctrine.
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion in summarily denying the defense motion to present unfairly prejudicial prior conviction evidence to the jury in a bifurcated proceeding.
- 3. The trial court abused its discretion in summarily denying the defense motion to instruct the jury on the prior conviction element in a separate jury instruction and verdict form.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. When a person's conviction is reversed on appeal and remanded for a new trial, the "law of the case" doctrine does not preclude the second judge from reconsidering issues that were not addressed by the Court of Appeals. Here, Mr. Mortenson's conviction was reversed on appeal and remanded for a new trial. Did the trial court err in concluding the law of the case doctrine prevented it from revisiting the prior court's rulings or providing different jury instructions?

- 2. Prior conviction evidence carries a substantial potential of unfairly influencing the jury to conclude the defendant must have committed the current crime simply because he committed a crime in the past. When a prior conviction is an element of the crime but otherwise unrelated to the current charge, the trial court may avoid the danger of unfair prejudice by ordering that the prior conviction evidence be presented to the jury in a separate proceeding. A bifurcated proceeding is particularly warranted when the prior conviction is for the same crime as the current charge, and the evidence consists of multiple prior convictions. Here, Mr. Mortenson was charged with felony DUI, which contains as an element that the defendant has four prior convictions for DUI. Did the court abuse its discretion in refusing to allow the unfairly prejudicial prior conviction evidence to be presented to the jury in a separate proceeding?
- 3. When a prior conviction is an element of the crime, the defendant receives greater constitutional protection if the court uses a bifurcated instruction and verdict form as to the existence of the prior convictions. Did the court abuse its discretion in refusing to instruct the jury on the prior conviction evidence in a separate instruction and verdict form?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 21, 2010, at around 1 a.m., Mr. Mortenson was driving a green Ford Thunderbird northbound on Military Road South in Auburn. 2/10/15RP 80-82, 127. King County Sheriff Deputy Jeffrey Petrenchak was driving southbound on the same road and saw the Thunderbird approaching him. 2/10/15RP 80-82, 127. The Thunderbird was not swerving or driving erratically but the deputy thought it was speeding. 2/10/15RP 82, 130. He checked his radar device and determined the Thunderbird was traveling at a speed of 65 miles per hour, while the posted speed limit was 45 miles per hour. 2/10/15RP 82-83. No other cars were on the road. 2/10/15RP 83-84.

Deputy Petrenchak made a U-turn, turned on his emergency lights and later his siren, and caught up to the Thunderbird. 2/10/15RP 83-85. The Thunderbird did not pull over immediately but instead made a few turns and eventually stopped on a residential street. 2/10/15RP 84-90. Deputy Petrenchak pursued the Thunderbird for about one mile before coming to a stop behind it. 2/10/15RP 92.

Catherine Lowrey, a friend of Mr. Mortenson's, was sitting in the passenger seat and her roommate, John Underdown, was sitting in the back. 2/11/15RP 19-20, 22. Ms. Lowrey testified that Mr.

Mortenson did not stop the car initially because he was in the "zone" and just wanted to get her and Mr. Underdown home. 2/11/15RP 26. He eventually came to a stop right in front of her house. 2/11/15RP 26.

Ms. Lowrey testified that Mr. Mortenson was not driving erratically. 2/11/15RP 35-36. Deputy Petrenchak said that although the Thunderbird was not swerving initially, after he caught up to it, it crossed the fog line and the center line several times while traveling in a "slow serpentine motion." 2/10/15RP 87, 131. Mr. Mortenson was traveling at the speed limit at that point. 2/10/15RP 87, 132-33. Mr. Mortenson parked his car at a 45-degree angle, with a portion of the car extending out into the road. 2/10/15RP 93.

Deputy Petrenchak drew his firearm and ordered Mr. Mortenson to get out of the car and show his hands. 2/10/15RP 94. Mr. Mortenson opened his door, got out of the car and walked toward the deputy. 2/10/15RP 95-97. Deputy Petrenchak said Mr. Mortenson was walking slowly and deliberately, "staggering almost in a zigzag or serpentine motion." 2/10/15RP 97. The deputy told him to get on the ground but he did not, nor did he put up his hands. 2/10/15RP 100-02. Deputy Petrenchak took out his taser and deployed it on Mr. Mortenson's chest. 2/10/15RP 102. The taser did not work, so the

deputy tried again, tasing Mr. Mortenson in the back. 2/10/15RP 104. Mr. Mortenson fell forward onto the ground. 2/10/15RP 105. Deputy Petrenchak and his partner Jeriod Lee, who had just arrived, put Mr. Mortenson in handcuffs and walked him to the patrol car. 2/10/15RP 106-07; 2/11/15RP 44.

Mr. Mortenson did not agree to take a breath test. 2/10/15RP 116-18, 126. The deputies did not perform any field sobriety tests. 2/10/15RP 144. No blood was taken from Mr. Mortenson and no tests were ever performed to determine his blood-alcohol level. 2/10/15RP 144, 147. Deputy Petrenchak and Deputy Lee said Mr. Mortenson's breath smelled strongly of alcohol, his face was flushed, and his eyes were red. 2/10/15RP 113-15; 2/11/15RP 54. His speech was slurred and Deputy Petrenchak had trouble understanding him. 2/10/15RP 111-13; 2/11/15RP 52. Ms. Lowrey said they had been driving home from a bar located about three miles from her house when Deputy Petrenchak pulled them over. 2/11/15RP 21, 24. Although Ms. Lowrey was drinking at the bar, she did not know whether Mr. Mortenson was drinking, or if he was, how much he had to drink. 2/11/15RP 22. Ms. Lowrey did not recall Mr. Mortenson acting as if he was impaired. 2/11/15RP 35-36

Mr. Mortenson was charged with one count of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle and one count of felony DUI.¹ CP 9-

11. The felony DUI charge specifically alleged that Mr. Mortenson

drove a vehicle within this state while under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor or any drug; while under the combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor and any drug; having at least four prior offenses, as defined under RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a), within ten years of the arrest for the current offense.

Contrary to RCW 46.61.502 and 46.61.5055, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

CP 10.

1. First trial.

A trial began in King County Superior Court before Judge Brian Gain. Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to present the evidence of the prior convictions to the jury in a separate proceeding. 1/10/12RP 30-31. Otherwise, the jury would naturally find Mr. Mortenson was driving under the influence on this occasion simply because he had been convicted of DUI four times in the past. 1/10/12RP 31, 112-13. The State objected. 1/10/12RP 32-36.

¹ Mr. Mortenson was also charged with one count of driving while license suspended or revoked in the second degree, and one count of tampering with a witness. CP 9-11. He pled guilty to the driving while license suspended charge, which is not at issue in this appeal. CP 23. The State dismissed the charge of tampering with a witness. CP 52.

Judge Gain denied the motion to bifurcate the evidence.

1/10/12RP 116-17. But the judge recognized the potential for unfair prejudice and in an effort to mitigate it, ruled he would "bifurcate" the jury instructions. 1/10/12RP 115. Judge Gain explained there would be "a two-step process," that is,

the jury will have to determine beyond a reasonable doubt whether they are convinced that Mr. Mortenson was driving under the influence. If they do in fact make that determination, then they will make a determination given by special instruction and special interrogatory whether or not the State has also proved beyond a reasonable doubt that there are four prior convictions under the statute.

1/10/12RP 115; 1/24/12RP 9.

In light of Judge Gain's rulings, Mr. Mortenson agreed to stipulate that he had four prior convictions for violating RCW 46.61.5055, so that the jury would hear no additional information about the nature of the prior convictions. 1/24/12RP 8.

The jury never decided the case, however. During trial, two witnesses testified to evidence that the court had previously excluded. CP 52. Consequently, Judge Gain declared a mistrial. CP 52.

2. Second trial.

Mr. Mortenson's case was reassigned to Judge Lori Smith. CP 52. Before trial, defense counsel urged the court to reconsider Judge

Gain's ruling and order that the evidence of the prior convictions be presented to the jury in a separate proceeding. 3/14/12RP 15-22. Counsel pointed out that ordering separate proceedings might be the only way to ensure Mr. Mortenson "gets a fair trial," particularly given the nature of the charge. The jury would inevitably assume the prior convictions were for alcohol-related driving offenses, given that the current charge was for felony DUI. 3/14/12RP 22, 30-31.

The State and the court agreed that Judge Smith had discretion to reconsider the issue. 3/13/12(p.m.)RP 13-14; 3/14/12RP 15, 23, 37-38. Nonetheless, the court decided to "adopt the rulings that Judge Gain [sic] at the prior trial." 3/14/12RP 29, 37-38. Following Judge Gain's rulings, Judge Smith ordered that the evidence of the prior convictions would not be presented at a separate proceeding, but the jury would be instructed separately on the prior conviction element and use a separate verdict form. 3/14/12RP 38.

Under these circumstances—and in an effort to mitigate the inevitable prejudice of the prior conviction evidence—Mr. Mortenson once again agreed to stipulate that he had at least four prior convictions for violating RCW 46.61.5055. 3/15/12RP 5, 8-10.

At the beginning of jury selection, Judge Smith read the information verbatim to the prospective jurors. CP 48-49, 52-53. By doing so, Judge Smith informed the jurors that Mr. Mortenson was charged with committing felony DUI "[c]ontrary to RCW 46.61.502 and 46.61.5055," and that he allegedly had "at least four prior offenses, as defined under RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a), within ten years of the arrest for the current offense." CP 10, 48-49, 52-53. In this way, Judge Smith explicitly informed the jurors that Mr. Mortenson was previously convicted at least four times under the same statute as the current charge. CP 48-49. Judge Smith denied Mr. Mortenson's motion for a new venire and took no action to address the problem created by the inadvertent disclosure of his prior conviction history. CP 49, 53.

Ultimately, Mr. Mortenson declined to have the jury provided with bifurcated instructions as it had already learned about the prior convictions in voir dire and through the parties' stipulation. 3/22/12 RP 38-44, 62-63. Thus, Judge Smith did not instruct the jury separately on the prior convictions nor provide a separate verdict form, despite her earlier decision to adopt Judge Gain's rulings. Sub #157A at 21 (instruction 16); see 2/04/15RP 12-13. In addition to the other elements of felony DUI, the to-convict instruction contained the following element: "That at the time of arrest, the defendant had been previously convicted of

four or more prior offenses within ten years pursuant to RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a)." Sub #157A at 21 (instruction 16).

The jury convicted Mr. Mortenson of felony DUI and attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle. CP 54.

Mr. Mortenson appealed. This Court reversed the conviction for felony DUI.² CP 48-65. The Court concluded that Mr. Mortenson was prejudiced by Judge Smith's inadvertent disclosure of his prior DUI conviction history to the venire. CP 49. The Court explained, "[t]he trial court's mention of RCW 46.61.5055 with respect to both the current offense and the prior offenses informed the jury that Mortenson had been convicted of DUI on four prior occasions within the last ten years." CP 56-57. The revelation was particularly prejudicial, given that the four prior convictions were for the same offense as the crime charged. CP 56-57. The Court rejected the State's argument that the jury likely did not recognize the significance of the statutory citation or conclude that Mr. Mortenson had four prior DUI convictions. CP 57. The Court pointed out that during voir dire, a prospective juror stated, in front of the entire panel, that she had "just heard prior that the defendant had four prior convictions." CP 57.

² The Court affirmed the conviction for attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, which is not at issue in this appeal. CP 49.

The Court explained the prejudicial effect of the trial court's comment was that the jury might infer that because Mr. Mortenson was convicted of four prior DUIs, he had a propensity for driving while intoxicated and acted in a manner consistent with that propensity on the date charged. CP 60. Moreover, "the prior offenses were not just similar to the current charged offense—they were identical to the current offense. This is exactly the type of evidence that Evidence Rule 404 normally seeks to exclude." CP 60-61. In addition, there was not just one prior offense introduced by the court, but *four*. CP 60-61. In light of these factors, there was a substantial likelihood the comment affected the outcome of the trial. CP 60-61.

3. Third trial.

A third trial was held before Judge Tanya Thorp, on the felony DUI charge only. Prior to trial, defense counsel once again moved to present the evidence of the prior convictions in a separate proceeding from the facts related to the underlying charge. CP 66-71; 2/04/15RP 11, 13; 2/11/15RP 64-65. Counsel once again pointed out that "[a] reasonable juror, hearing that [Mr. Mortenson had] been arrested for DUI and had four prior offenses, could not reasonably be expected to acquit, regardless of the strength [or weakness] of the State's case." CP

67-68. Counsel argued, even if the jury were told only that Mr. Mortenson was previously convicted for violating RCW 46.61.5055, "any reasonable juror is going to know what those prior convictions are for or at least surmise what they're four [sic]." 2/04/15RP 12.

In the alternative, counsel moved to provide the jury with a separate instruction regarding the prior conviction element, accompanied by a separate verdict form, in accordance with Judge Gain's original ruling.³ 2/04/15RP 13; 2/11/15RP 64-65.

Judge Thorp denied both motions. 2/04/15RP 14-15. Judge Thorp reasoned she was bound by Judge Smith's rulings and the instructions given to the previous jury under the "law of the case" doctrine. 2/04/15RP 15; 2/11/15RP 66. Judge Thorp stated that because the to-convict instruction in the previous trial contained the prior conviction element, and Mr. Mortenson did not challenge that instruction in his appeal, she did not have discretion to instruct the jury in a different manner. 2/04/15RP 15; 2/11/15RP 66. Thus, the to-convict instruction contained the prior conviction element. 4 CP 115.

³ In support of the motion, counsel filed proposed separate jury instructions and a special verdict form. CP 93, 94, 97.

⁴ The to-convict instruction informed the jury it must find the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) that Mr. Mortenson drove a motor vehicle on the night in question; (2) that at the time he drove the motor vehicle, he was under the influence of or affected by

Under these circumstances, Mr. Mortenson once again stipulated "[t]hat at the time of the arrest, the defendant had been previously convicted of four or more prior offenses within ten years pursuant to RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a)." CP 99; 2/11/15RP 64-65. The court read the stipulation to the jury at the close of the State's case. 2/11/15RP 74. The jury was instructed it could use the prior conviction evidence only to establish the prior conviction element of the crime. CP 116.

The jury found Mr. Mortenson guilty of felony DUI. CP 100.

E. ARGUMENT

Judge Thorp abused her discretion in summarily denying the motion to present the inherently prejudicial prior conviction evidence in a separate proceeding, and in summarily denying the motion to instruct the jury on the prior conviction element in a separate instruction.

1. The trial court misapplied the law of the case doctrine.

Before trial, defense counsel urged the court to adopt additional procedures that might reasonably lessen the prejudicial impact that would inevitably occur when the jury heard that Mr. Mortenson had

intoxicating liquor; and (3) "[t]hat at the time of arrest, the defendant had been previously convicted of four or more prior offenses within ten years pursuant to RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a)." CP 115.

14

four prior convictions for violating RCW 46.61.5055. First, counsel argued the court should present the evidence of the prior convictions in a separate proceeding from the evidence regarding the present incident. CP 66-71; 2/04/15RP 11-13; 2/11/15RP 64-65. If the court had done so, there would have been *no* risk that the jury would unfairly conclude that Mr. Mortenson must have driven under the influence on the current occasion simply because he had done so at least four times in the past. Second, counsel argued the court should instruct the jury on the prior conviction element in a separate instruction. 2/04/15RP 13; 2/11/15RP 64-65. Doing so would have at least encouraged the jury to consider the allegations regarding the current incident separately from the allegations regarding the prior convictions.

The trial court denied both requests without meaningfully considering them. The court concluded it did not have discretion to bifurcate the proceedings, or to provide different jury instructions, simply because those issues were not raised or decided in Mr.

Mortenson's first appeal. 2/04/15RP 15; 2/11/15RP 66. The court erred in concluding it was required by the "law of the case" doctrine to deny Mr. Mortenson's motions.

The "law of the case" doctrine derives from both RAP 2.5(c) and the common law. Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.3d 844 (2005). It is a multifaceted doctrine that means different things in different circumstances. Id. The purpose of the doctrine is to promote finality and efficiency in the judicial process. Id.

Essentially, the law of the case doctrine stands for the proposition that once an appellate court enunciates a principle of law, that holding will be followed in subsequent stages in the same litigation. <u>Id</u>. It also refers to the principle that jury instructions not objected to are treated as the properly applicable law for purposes of appeal. <u>Id</u>.; <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101-02, 954 P.2d 900 (1998).

The law of the case doctrine does *not* preclude a trial court on remand from reconsidering an issue that was not raised or decided by the appellate court in the appeal. Roberson v. Perez, 119 Wn. App. 928, 932, 83 P.3d 1026 (2004), aff'd, 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2005). An appellate court's decision supersedes the trial court's decision only on those issues that the appellate court actually decided. State v. Strauss, 119 Wn.2d 401, 412, 832 P.2d 78 (1992); State v. Stein, 140 Wn. App. 43, 55, 165 P.3d 16 (2007).

This principle is explicitly set forth in RAP 2.5(c)(1), which provides:

- (c) Law of the Case Doctrine Restricted. The following provisions apply if the same case is again before the appellate court following a remand:
- (1) Prior Trial Court Action. If a trial court decision is otherwise properly before the appellate court, the appellate court may at the instance of a party review and determine the propriety of a decision of the trial court even though a similar decision was not disputed in an earlier review of the same case. . . .

The purpose of RAP 2.5(c)(1) is to restrict the law of the case doctrine by permitting the trial court upon remand to exercise independent judgment as to decisions to which error was not assigned in the prior review, and by permitting the appellate court to review the resulting decision. State v. Sauve, 33 Wn. App. 181, 183 n.2, 652 P.2d 967 (1982), aff°d, 100 Wn.2d 85, 666 P.2d 894 (1983). In order for RAP 2.5(c)(1) to permit appellate review of an issue raised in a second appeal, the trial court must have considered the issue on remand. Id. In other words, as with most appealable issues, the appellant must have raised an objection below. 2A Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Rules Practice, at 258 (7th ed. 2011).

According to these principles, Judge Thorp had authority and discretion to reconsider Judge Gain's and Judge Smith's earlier rulings

that were not challenged or ruled upon in the appeal. Mr. Mortenson did not argue in his first appeal that the prior conviction evidence should have been presented to the jury in a separate proceeding, or that the court should have provided a separate jury instruction and verdict form. This Court did not reach those issues. Therefore, the law of the case doctrine did not constrain the trial court's discretion in regard to those issues on remand. Roberson, 156 Wn.2d at 41; RAP 2.5(c)(1).

Judge Thorp did not meaningfully consider Mr. Mortenson's motions to bifurcate the proceedings, or to provide a separate jury instruction and verdict form, because she erroneously believed that she *had* no discretion. Generally, RAP 2.5(c)(1) applies only if the trial court on remand "exercises its independent judgment," and "reviews and rules again on such issue." State v. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d 48, 50, 846 P.2d 519 (1993). But a trial court's erroneous belief that it lacks discretion to render a decision is itself an abuse of discretion. State v. Garcia-Martinez, 88 Wn. App. 322, 329-30, 944 P.2d 1104 (1997). A court's categorical refusal to exercise its discretion is effectively a failure to exercise discretion and is subject to reversal. State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). Moreover, a court necessarily abuses its discretion if its decision is based on an

erroneous view of the law. <u>State v. Quismundo</u>, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 342 (2008).

Judge Thorp's refusal to exercise her independent judgment was based on an erroneous belief that she *had* no authority to exercise such judgment. Her failure to exercise discretion was itself an abuse of discretion and should not preclude appellate review. <u>Garcia-Martinez</u>, 88 Wn. App. at 329-30; <u>Grayson</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 342; <u>Quismundo</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 504.

Mr. Mortenson properly raised the issues before Judge Thorp (as well as before Judge Gain and Judge Smith) and even proposed appropriate jury instructions. CP 66-71, 93, 94, 97; 2/04/15RP 11-13; 2/11/15RP 64-65. The trial court had authority to exercise her independent judgment on remand and her refusal to do so is "properly before" this Court. RAP 2.5(c)(1). Because the court's failure to exercise discretion was itself an abuse of discretion, this Court should reverse and remand the case to the trial court so that the court may exercise its discretion and render a proper decision.

2. The trial court should have bifurcated the proceeding in order to ensure that the jury would not be unfairly influenced by the prior conviction evidence.

Defense counsel moved Judge Thorp to bifurcate the proceedings so that the jury would not hear the evidence of Mr. Mortenson's four prior convictions for violating RCW 46.61.5055 until after it decided the question of whether he had committed DUI on the present occasion. CP 66-71; 2/04/15RP 11-13; 2/11/15RP 64-65. The judge should have granted the request because a bifurcated proceeding was the only procedure available to ensure that Mr. Mortenson received a fair trial. The potential for unfair prejudice was simply too great to overcome in any other way, given that the prior convictions were for the same crimes as the charged offense, and there were *four* of them rather than only one.

A trial court has broad discretion to control the order and manner of trial proceedings, including the decision whether to bifurcate the presentation of evidence. State v. Monschke, 133 Wn. App. 313, 334-35, 135 P.3d 966 (2006); ER 611. Moreover, the court has a fundamental duty to adopt a procedure that is reasonably designed to ensure that the trial is conducted fairly, expeditiously and impartially. State v. Johnson, 77 Wn.2d 423, 426, 462 P.2d 933 (1969). Although

bifurcated trials are generally not favored, they are sometimes necessary to ensure a fair trial. Monschke, 133 Wn. App. at 335. In particular, bifurcation may be appropriate if a unitary trial would significantly prejudice the defendant, and there is no overlap between evidence relevant to the proposed separate proceedings. See id.

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