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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE INVITED ERROR DOCTRINE STRICTLY
PRECLUDES MORTENSON FROM ARGUING
THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADHERING
TO THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE.

This appeal epitomizes invited error. Mortenson repeatedly

argued to the trial court that it should "adopt all prior pretrial rulings

made in this case," and "adopt all the prior rulings made in the prior

court," and that "the case law directs the court to adopt all prior

rulings." Now he says that adopting all prior rulings was reversible

error. This Court should decline to review this argument.

"The invited error doctrine is a strict rule that precludes a

criminal defendant from seeking appellate review of an error he

helped create, even when the alleged error involves constitutional

rights." State v. Carson, 179 Wn. App. 961, 973, 320 P.3d 185

(2014), aff'd, 184 Wn.2d 207, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015). The doctrine

applies to jury instructions. State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867,

870, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). "`That doctrine prohibits a party from

setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal."' Id.

(quoting State v. Pam, 101 Wn.2d 507, 511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984)).

If error is committed, "of whatever kind," at the defendant's

-10-
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invitation, "he is ... precluded from claiming on appeal that it is

reversible error." Henderson, 114 Wn.2d at 870. "To hold

otherwise would put a premium on defendants misleading trial

courts; this we decline to encourage." Id. at 868.

There can be no question here that the error that Mortenson

now alleges —that the trial court adopted the prior rulings of the

previous trial courts —was directly promoted by Mortenson

himself. "The defendant's challenge ... must therefore fail."

State v. Boyer, 91 Wn.2d 342, 345, 588 P.2d 1151 (1979).

In this case, Mortenson did not argue merely that the trial

court should adopt the previous rulings. He argued that the trial

court was bound by law to do so. In fact, Mortenson went so far as

to admonish the trial court that failing to follow the previous court's

rulings would "deprive Mr. Mortenson his right to due process and a

fair trial." CP 85. This epitomizes invited error.

Mortenson might claim now that he did not really invite the

error because he told the trial court that he preferred bifurcation, or

perhaps that his motion was aimed only at the rulings that went his

way. But such an argument would not fit the facts, and he cannot

have it both ways. The record is clear that Mortenson told the trial

court that his first choice was for the court to follow all previous

-11-
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rulings, and that "case law directs" it to do so. 2/4/15 RP 12. He

said he would argue for bifurcation only if the trial court declined to

follow all the previous rulings. Mortenson may not argue now that

the trial court erred by doing what he wanted.

This case is the archetypal situation that the invited-error

doctrine was designed to eliminate. This Court should refuse to

consider this argument.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION BY DECLINING TO BIFURCATE.

Mortenson now argues that the trial court was not bound by

prior rulings and abused its discretion by not bifurcating his trial or

his jury instructions. His lengthy discussion of the "law of the case"

is beside the point. The trial court was not obliged to adopt the

prior rulings on bifurcation and jury instructions —but it never said

that it was. Mortenson enjoyed no right to bifurcation of his trial or

of the jury instructions in this case, where the existence of his prior

convictions was an essential element of the charge the State was

required to prove. The trial court had complete discretion to

bifurcate or not. It followed an alternative procedure to instructional

bifurcation that our supreme court has approved for such cases. It

did not abuse its discretion.

-12-
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1

A trial court's decision on bifurcation is reviewed for an

abuse of discretion. State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 192, 196

P.3d 705 (2008). An abuse of discretion exists "when the trial

court's decision is manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on

untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." State v. Blackwell,

120 Wn.2d 822, 830, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993). A decision is

"manifestly unreasonable" if the court adopts a view that no

reasonable person would take. State v. Lewis, 115 Wn.2d 294,

298-99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990). A decision is an abuse of discretion

if it is "outside the range of acceptable choices." State v.

Rundquist, 79 Wn. App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995).

In a felony DUI charge, the existence of four or more

predicate offenses is an essential element that must be proved to a

jury 

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Chambers, '157 Wn. App.

465, 481-82, 237 P.3d 352 (2010). When the existence of a prior

conviction is an essential element of the charge, a defendant is not

entitled to a bifurcated trial and the trial court does not abuse its

discretion by declining to grant one. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d at 198-99.

The jury has a right to regard the "to convict" instruction as a

complete statement of the law. Id. at 196. See also State v. Oster,

147 Wn.2d 141, 147, 52 P.3d 26 (2002).

1602-22 Mortenson COA
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It may be "better practice" in such cases to bifurcate the jury

instructions to guard against potential prejudicial effect of the prior

convictions. Id. at 147-48. Still, instructional bifurcation "is

constitutionally permissible but not required." Roswell, 165 Wn.2d

at 197. Our supreme court has never held that "the defendant had

a right to bifurcated jury instructions." Id. (emphasis in original).

That is because "[c]ourts have long held that when a prior

conviction is an element of the crime charged, it is not error to allow

the jury to hear evidence on that issue." Id. (citing Pettus v. Cranor

41 Wn.2d 567, 568, 250 P.2d 542 (1952); State v. Tully, 198 Wash.

605, 89 P.2d 517 (1939); Spencer v. Texas, 385 U.S. 554, 565-66,

87 S. Ct. 648 17 L. Ed. 2d 606 (1967)). Any prejudice created by

evidence of the prior conviction may be countered with a limiting

instruction from the trial court. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d at 198. "If a

prior conviction is an element of the crime charged, evidence of its

existence will never be irrelevant." Id. "One can always argue that

evidence that tends to prove any element of a crime will have some

prejudicial impact on the defendant." Id.

-14-
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First, the State has no dispute with Mortenson's latest

position that the trial court was not bound by the earlier

pretrial rulings that were not the subject of his first appeal.

See State v. Stein, 140 Wn. App. 43, 55, 165 P.3d 16 (2007), as

amended (Aug. 21, 2007) (under law of the case doctrine, an

appellate court's decision is binding on further proceedings in the

trial court on remand); State v. Trask, 98 Wn. App. 690, 695, 990

P.2d 976 (2000) (law of the case does not apply to matters not

explicitly or implicitly considered on appeal). But his lengthy

discussion of the law of the case doctrine, while interesting, is

beside the point here.

Contrary to Mortenson's argument, the trial court never said

it was bound on the issue of bifurcation: In fact, the trial court

explicitly demonstrated otherwise. It indicated that while it felt

bound by Judge Gain's rulings on CrR 3.5 and 3.6, it was

independently considering the issue of bifurcation. The trial court

reviewed the entire case file, and then invited Mortenson to

re-litigate his bifurcation motion. 2/4/15 RP 10. This is not the

behavior of a court that feels its hands are tied.

-15-
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Ultimately, the trial court declined bifurcation and elected

to follow the rulings of the prior trial court for finro reasons:

(1) Mortenson argued strenuously that it should (and even must);

and (2) it read the entire record of the prior proceedings,

considered Mortenson's previous stipulations, and considered that

Mortenson had not raised the issue of bifurcation on appeal.

Mortenson's current argument —that the trial court refused to

exercise discretion (after he told it that it had none)— is not

supported by the facts.

In declining to bifurcate, the trial court was well within its

discretion under Roswell and Oster. Our supreme court has

emphasized that it is never error to decline bifurcation of either the

trial or the jury instructions in cases such as this. Mortenson

cannot show that the court acted unreasonably. And moreover, he

cannot show he was prejudiced by the court's exercise of this

discretion.

That is especially so because Mortenson's trial essentially

mirrored a procedural alternative to instructional bifurcation that our

supreme court in Roswell directly endorsed for felony DUI cases.

165 Wn.2d at 198 n.6 ("a different procedure that could be used by
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trial courts to limit prejudice in these situations").5 In that

procedure, a defendant stipulates "to the prior conviction element

but the trial court could inform the jury of the element by utilizing

statutory citations rather than the name of the crime." Id~. Then the

jury would be instructed that the defendant had stipulated "to the

existence of at least the requisite number of prior offenses within

the requisite time period"; that the jury was not to speculate on the

nature of the prior convictions; and that it must not consider the

stipulation for any other purpose. Id.

That is what happened here: The stipulation to prior

offenses supplied the jury with the statutory citation but not the

names of the offenses (though even if it had, "it is not error to allow

the jury to hear evidence on that issue"). Roswell, 165 Wn.2d at

197. The jury learned no facts of the prior offenses. The trial court

instructed the jury to consider the existence of Mortenson's prior

convictions only for the predicate-offense element, and not to

consider it for any other purpose, including whether he drove drunk.

"Any prejudice created by evidence of the prior conviction may be

countered with a limiting instruction from the trial court." Id. at 198.

5 While Roswell was asex-crime case, the example of the approved procedure
used a hypothetical felony DUI case.
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Thus, Mortenson can show no harm from the trial court's

discretionary denial of bifurcation.

Mortenson argues that the failure to bifurcate in this trial was

no different than the prejudicial situation in the earlier trial that

resulted in reversal. That is plainly not so. The trial court's

adherence to the supreme court's suggested procedure from

Roswell here meant the jury did not learn the specific name or

nature of the underlying convictions, which was the only prejudicial

error in his earlier trial. Moreover, the jury venire Mortenson's

earlier trial was not given a contemporaneous limiting instruction,

while in this trial the jury was carefully instructed matching our

supreme court's direction in Roswell. Mortenson cannot explain

how following our supreme court's specific advice for avoiding

prejudice results in prejudice.

Mortenson cannot show that the trial court abused its

discretion by accepting his invitation to adopt the previous trial

court's rulings on bifurcation..His arguments, even if reviewable,

are meritless.

~I~
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D. CONCLUSION

For ail the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this

Court to affirm Mortenson's judgment and sentence.